1971

State of Utah v. John Cunningham and Dennis Parker : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellants, John Cunningham and Dennis Parker, appeal from a conviction of the unlawful sale of an hallucinogenic drug and the sentence imposed thereon in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellants were tried on a charge of the unlawful sale of LSD, contrary to Utah Code Ann. 58-33-6 (1) (1953) (Supp. 1969), before the honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, sitting without a jury. Upon a verdict of guilty appellants were sentenced on July 20, 1970, to a term of imprison-

nt at the Utah State Prison; and appeal from the judgment and sentence.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants seek reversal of the judgment of the lower court and dismissal of the action, in the alternative, reversal and remand for further proceedings, with directions and instructions for modification and correction of the sentence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During late November, 1969, a well co-ordinated team of undercover agents under the direction and control of Loni DeLand, an employee of the Utah Liquor Law Enforcement Division, chanced to make the acquaintance of appellant Cunningham at the apartment of one Mike Fellows. The team of agents subsequently approached the appellants at their apartment at 329 East Seventh South, Salt Lake City, and asked if appellants could supply them with a quantity of LSD. On several occasions the response was negative. (R. 77-80)

On the evening of December 3, 1969, the three agents again arrived at appellant's apartment sometime after 10:00 p.m.; and after gaining

entry into the apartment, presented the appellants with a variety of pretenses as to why the agents had to have the illegal drug. After about thirty minutes of sporadic conversation and repeated frequent and insistent demands from the agents that appellants supply them with LSD, the appellants finally capitulated to the demands, and allegedly delivered over eight tablets of the drug. The agents threw a \$20 bill on the floor for payment. (R. 82-84)

The appellants, 19-year old boys from a small town in Idaho, had been in Salt Lake City only a short time and testified that they were living in a rough neighborhood and that they acquiesced in the transaction only because they were becoming fearful of the agents and hoped that if they gave the agents what they were asking for that they would go away and leave them alone. (R. 83, 92) The appellants further testified that they had been experimenting with LSD, that they were not selling or dealing in drugs, that they were merely casual users and that the tablets in question were in their possession solely for their own personal use. (R. 90)

On December 5, 1969, appellants were arrested and charged with the unlawful sale of an hallucinogenic drug to agent DeLand. They were arrested at gunpoint and their apartment was thoroughly searched but no other drugs were found. (R. 95-96)

On the trial of the case the appellants raised the defense of entrapment based upon the manner and means used by the agents to finally effect a purchase including the repeated and insistent demands that appellants supply these agents with the drug. In spite of the entrapment issue the trial Court found both defendants guilty as charged. (R. 105)

Before sentencing, counsel for the appellants argued in favor of the Court's consideration of probation, but the trial judge, the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, automatically sentenced the appellants to imprisonment at the State Prison for the "indeterminate term provided by law."

ARGUMENT I

APPELLANTS WERE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL AND THE PROCESS OF LAW FOR THE REASON THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE DEFENSE OF ENTRAPMENT. THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED BY THE STATE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF FACT AND AS A MATTER OF LAW TO REBUT THE ENTRAPMENT DEFENSE.

Entrapment has been defined as the inducement of one to commit a crime not contemplated by him or the mere purpose of instituting a criminal prosecution against him. It has also been defined as the conception and planning of an offense by an officer and the procurement of its commission by one who would not have perpetrated it except for the trickery, persuasion or fraud of the officer. See Vol. 21 Am. Jur. 2d, § 143 and cases cited therein.

The defense of entrapment most generally accepted in the United States has its roots in the majority opinion in Sorrells v. United States, 287 U.S. 435 (1932), which held that entrapment is established:

"When the criminal design originates with the officials of the government and they implant in the mind of an innocent person the disposition to commit the alleged offense and induce its commission in order that they may prosecute."

he controlling question is:

"Whether the defendant is a person otherwise innocent whom the government is seeking to punish for an alleged offense which is the product of the creative activity of its own officials."

uring the days of Prohibition Sorrells sold some liquor to a government agent who posed as a member of Sorrells' World War I Army division. The risky was forthcoming only after several requests had been made

The Court in Sorrells adopted the so-called "origin of intent" test, a subjective test that requires determining whether the defendant or the government agent conceived, planned, or caused commission of the crime. By allowing an inquiry into the defendant's past criminal record or prior suspicious conduct the requisite elements of predisposition and criminal design may be determined; and the defense is valid if the defendant lacked the prior intent to commit the crime charged.

The rule and rationale of Sorrells was reaffirmed in the case of Sherman v. United States, 360 U.S. 369 (1958). In Sherman the factual issue was whether the informer had convinced an

otherwise unwilling person to commit a criminal act or whether petitioner was already predisposed to commit the act and exhibited only the natural hesitancy of one acquainted with the narcotics trade. The Court found that a number of repetitions of a request to supply narcotics predicated on the informer's presumed suffering had preceded the defendant's final acquiescence to supply some drugs. The Court found that a single request was not enough and that the informant made numerous requests in order to overcome first the defendant's refusal and his evasiveness and finally his hesitancy in order to achieve capitulation. The Court found that the series of sales were not independent acts subsequent to the inducement but part of a course of conduct which was the product of the inducement.

It appears that the defense of entrapment as it exists in the state of Utah, is quite similar to the rules set forth in Sorrells and Sherman, supra. In the case of State v. Pacheco, 15 Utah 2d 148, 369 P. 2d 494, it was stated:

"For a peace officer to procure a person to commit a crime which he otherwise would not have committed for the purpose of apprehending

and prosecuting him is entrapment. This is so discordant to the true function of law enforcement, which is the prosecution, not the causation of crime; and so repugnant to fundamental concepts of justice that the conviction of an accused under such circumstances will not be approved. When that issue is present the question is whether the crime is the product of the defendant's own intention and desire or is the product of some enticement or inducement by the peace officer. If the crime was in fact so instigated or induced by what the officer did that the latter's conduct was the generating cause which produced the crime and without which it would not have been committed, the defendant should not be convicted. On the other hand, if the defendant's attitude of mind was such that he desired and intended to commit the crime, the mere fact that an officer or someone else afforded him an opportunity to commit it would not constitute an entrapment which would be a defense to its commission; and this would not be less true even though an undercover man went along with the defendant in the criminal plan and aided or encouraged him in it."

In the Pacheco case the defendant was convicted on the basis of a burglary and grand larceny charge in which one of several individuals who perpetrated the crime was, unbeknownst to the defendant, a police officer who tipped off the police that the crime was about to occur, with

an undercover officer. Acting on a tip from this informant, the defendant and the others were apprehended shortly after the burglary with an amount of money in his possession. Although that persuasion which overcomes natural reluctance on the part of innocent persons to commit a crime which he is not otherwise disposed to commit is "entrapment," it is noted that the Court must draw a line between entrapping innocent, unwary people who are not inclined to commit a crime and entrapping the unwary criminal who nevertheless gets caught in his own schemes because of his misplaced confidence.

This Court affirmed the Pacheco reasoning in the case of State v. Perkins, 19 Utah 2d 421, 32 P. 2d 50 (1967). In Perkins the defendant first approached the agent inquiring whether he desired to make further purchases of drugs. There was some evidence that the undercover agent had made prior purchases of marijuana from the defendant. The agent asked whether Perkins could get him a cap of heroin and Perkins quoted a price; he left the bar shortly thereafter and attempted to purchase some drugs. The

defendant although unable to obtain heroin, returned after a short time and sold the officer five joints of marijuana. On the trial of that case the entrapment issue was raised indirectly on cross-examination and the defendant did not take the stand. The fact that there was substantial evidence in the case of prior contacts between the defendant and the same agent involving other transactions was allowed to show a predisposition.

This Court has had occasion to interpret and further construe the theory of the entrapment defense in the recent decision of State v. Kasai, 7 Utah 2d 326, 495 P. 2d 1265, wherein it was stated that:

"Entrapment is not established as a matter of law where there is any substantial evidence in the record from which it may be inferred that the criminal intent to commit the particular offense originated in the mind of the accused. The fact that a government agent offers to buy narcotics from a suspect, thus giving him the opportunity to commit the offense, does not constitute entrapment."

The "origin-of-intent" test, being subjective, has been recently the subject of some criticism.

See ULR Vol. 1971, Summer, No. 2, @ p. 266, and cases cited therein. It would appear that the trend is toward the position set out in the concurring opinions of Sorrells and Sherman, that the determination of entrapment as a matter of law requires the objective examination of the police conduct. In Sherman the concurring judges were of the opinion that the Court reversed the conviction because of the conduct of the informer, and not because the government failed to draw a convincing picture of the past criminal conduct, even though the majority found no intent."

It could be contended in the instant case, as it was in Sherman and Kasai, that the entrapment is no defense on the theory that the officers "merely afforded an opportunity" to one predisposed" to sell. A careful comparison of the facts in the case reveals that Kasai may be readily distinguished.

In Kasai, an old acquaintance and former drug addict, acting as a police informant, approached the defendant, who was changing a tire on his car, and requested marijuana. The informer helped the defendant change the tire and then

both went into the house where the defendant produced a "lid." A few minutes later the informant left the house and turned the evidence over to waiting police. There was other evidence admitted at the trial of that case tending to establish that there had been at least one prior sale to the same informant, and that no unusual persuasion was apparently involved.

There is no evidence in the case at bar which proves beyond a reasonable doubt the state of mind or predisposition which "readily responds" to the "opportunity" created by the officers. On the contrary, it is clear that the police conduct was the generating cause which produced the crime, and without which it would not have been committed.

Appellants respectfully submit that the test recently adopted by the Kansas Supreme Court in the case of State v. Reichenberger, 209 Kan. 10, 495 P. 2d 919, should be applied here. The Kansas Court, after carefully discussing the historical developments in this area of the law, noted that where the events culminating in a criminal offense commence with a police solici-

ation, the defense of entrapment will almost always present a question of fact. When there is no proof of conduct on the part of the defendants prior to the police solicitation, only a "uncensurable solicitation" met by "ready compliance" may be some evidence of predisposition.

The further test of predisposition then formulated is whether the type of police persuasion used creates a "substantial risk" that such offenses will be committed by persons other than those who are ready to commit them. This formulation was also suggested in the Model Penal Code Proposed Official Draft, § 2.13 (1962).

The instant case clearly is one of police solicitation involving a substantial risk of inducing innocent persons to commit a crime which they otherwise would not have attempted. There can be little doubt but that the transaction was brought about through a persistent, forceful, and insistent series of demands by the officers that appellants produce drugs for them. The fact that appellants had only a few tablets in their possession is entirely consis-

ent with their explanation that they were, at
ost, mere users, and that the only motivation
o "sell" was due to the fear induced by the
gents. The Reichenberger case indicates that
unusual or persistent inducements by police may
e sufficient to raise an entrapment defense
equiring acquittal.

In conclusion, appellants submit that in
his case a public law enforcement official along
ith persons acting in co-operation with that
fficial perpetrated an entrapment solely for
he purpose of obtaining evidence of a commission
f an offense by soliciting and encouraging ano-
her person to engage in conduct constituting
hat offense by employing methods of persuasion
r inducement of the type which create a substan-
ial risk that such an offense will be committed
y persons other than those who are ready to
ommit it. The case should be reversed.

ARGUMENT II

IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PRESENT CASE, THE SENTENCE IMPOSED CONSTITUTES A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW, AND VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT, DUE TO THE EXISTENCE OF SEPARATE STATUTES WHICH PROVIDE DIFFERENT PUNISHMENTS FOR IDENTICAL CONDUCT; AND SINCE THERE IS DOUBT OR UNCERTAINTY AS TO WHICH OF SEVERAL PUNISHMENTS IS APPLICABLE, APPELLANTS ARE ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF THE LESSER.

Appellants were found guilty of the unlawful sale of LSD and were sentenced to imprisonment at the Utah State Prison. The orders of commitment (R. 12, 14) issued pursuant to the sentence read as follows:

"The judgment and sentence of this Court is that you, [John Cunningham and Dennis Parker] be confined and imprisoned in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term as provided by law for the crime of unlawfully selling an hallucinogenic drug as charged."

Appellants were charged with violation of Utah Code Ann., § 58-33-6 (1) (1953, 1969 supp.) which provides:

"It shall be unlawful for any person to manufacture, compound, process, possess, have under his control, sell, prescribe, administer, dispense, use or compound any

depressant, stimulant or hallucinogenic or other drug as defined herein except this prohibition shall not apply to the following persons whose activities in connection with such drug are as specified in this subsection:"

..... This statute then proceeds to exempt manufacturers, compounders, processors, pharmacies, hospitals, research and educational institutions, wholesale druggists, public health agencies and licensed physicians and non-drug uses of peyote by Indian members of the Native American Church from the provisions of the drug abuse control law.

Utah Code Ann., § 58-33-6 (e) (1953, 1969 supp.) provides:

"Whenever the possession, sale, transfer or dispensing of any drug or substance would constitute an offense under this act and also constitutes an offense under the laws of this state relating to the possession, sale, transfer or dispensing of drugs or marijuana, such offense shall not be punishable under this act but shall be punishable under the other provisions of law."

This Court has recently made it perfectly clear that the well-established rule is:

"That a statute creating a crime should be sufficiently certain that persons of ordinary intelligence who desire to obey the law may

know how to conduct themselves in conformity with it. The fair and logical concomitant of that rule is that such a penal statute should be similarly clear, specific and understandable as to the penalty imposed for its violation."

State v. Shondel, 22 Utah 2d 343, 453 P. 2d 146 (1969).

The Shondel case involved the determination of the proper penalty for possession of LSD. One statute, Utah Code Ann., § 58-33, made the offense a misdemeanor while § 58-13a made the identical conduct a felony. The language of this Court in construing a provision of § 58-13a-4 (4), containing language identical to that of § 58-33-6 (e), is as follows:

"This reference to 'such other provisions of the law' leaves one concerned with compliance with the law to search elsewhere to discover whether 'some other provision of the law' dealing with narcotic drugs or marijuana prescribe some other penalty for the possession of LSD."

The equal protection of the law requires that the laws affect alike all persons similarly situated. The conflicting statutes were resolved so that Shondel was entitled to the lesser penalty.

In a similar case, State v. Fair, 23 Utah 2d 34, 456 P. 2d 168 (1969), this Court again ruled that an accused is entitled to the benefit of the lesser penalty where the laws provide two different penalties for the same conduct. The case involved a conviction for uttering a forged prescription, a felony under 58-13a-44, but a misdemeanor under 58-17-14.13. Applying the Shondel rule, the case was remanded for resentencing as a misdemeanor under 58-17-14.13.

Appellants herein submit that the rules laid down by this Court in Shondel and Fair are controlling in the instant case. Utah Code Ann., 58-17-14.11 provides, in pertinent part:

"Any proprietor of a pharmacy or other person who shall sell, dispose of, or permit the sale or disposition of any drug intended for use by man unless it is dispensed upon a prescription of a doctor is guilty of an offense." (emphasis added)

The conduct which constitutes a violation of 58-33-6 (1) and 58-17-14.11 is identical. The penalty for a violation of 58-17-14.11 is found in § 58-17-26, and provides that a violation of that section is a misdemeanor. Appellants submit that the case at bar should therefore be remanded for proper sentencing.

While it is true that the drug LSD is not as commonly used as stimulant drugs which are extensively prescribed primarily for relief of depression and for weight control or the numerous depressant drugs which are prescribed in great numbers as tranquilizers, the use of LSD in treating chronic alcoholism as well as for the treatment of some cancer patients is quite well documented. The positive uses of this drug by licensed medical practitioners is growing. The trial judge seemed to be of the opinion that LSD was simply not the type of drug which is included within the meaning of 58-17-14.11, but neither statute distinguishes the depressant or stimulant from the hallucinogenic with respect to penalty.

The statute under which appellants were convicted and apparently sentenced has since been repealed by the Utah Legislature effective January 1, 1972, Utah Code Ann., § 58-37. The penalty provided in the new statute for the unlawful sale of controlled substances, including LSD, is a maximum of ten years, § 58-37-8 (b) (ii). There is no minimum mandatory provision and the statute clearly indicates a policy of preferring

rehabilitation by probation and treatment for young first offenders. Where the legislature changes the law favorable to an accused, under certain circumstances the accused is entitled to the favorable change in the law. See State v. [redacted], 26 Utah 2d 392, 490 P. 2d 334, and cases cited therein.

Appellants submit that the Court in the case at bar should also apply the principles set forth in Belt v. Turner, 25 Utah 2d 230, 479 P. 2d 791 (1970), on reh. 25 Utah 2d 380, 483 P. 2d 425. The Legislature has expressed an intent to lessen the penalty, and modern and advanced principles of jurisprudence should try and give effect to the lesser sentence.

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