1970

State of Utah v. John Cunningham and Dennis Parker : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

APPELLANTS' DEFENSE OF ENTRAPMENT IS NOT SUFFICIENT LEGALLY OR FACTUALLY TO REVERSE THEIR CONVICTIONS.

The first Supreme Court decision to deal with the defense of entrapment was *Sorrells v. United States*, 287 U. S. 435, 53 S. Ct. 210, 77 L. Ed. 413 (1932). The case concerned a federal agent who asked the defendant to procure some liquor for him. After several requests by the agent and after the agent told the defendant that he was in the same army unit as the defendant the agent

received the liquor. As the court stated at 287 U. S. at 441:

“It is clear that the evidence was sufficient to warrant a finding that the act for which defendant was prosecuted was instigated by the prohibition agent, that it was the creature of his purpose, that defendant had no previous disposition to commit it but was an industrious law-abiding citizen, and that the agent lured defendant, otherwise innocent, to its commission by repeated and persistent solicitation in which he succeeded by taking advantage of the sentiment aroused by reminiscences of their experiences as companions in arms in the World War.”

The court went on to hold that the defense of entrapment should have been available to defendant at trial. In so holding the court also provided a rule by which to gauge evidence of entrapment. At page 451, 216, the court said:

“The predisposition and criminal design of the defendant are relevant. But the issues raised must be pertinent to the controlling question whether the defendant is a person otherwise innocent whom the government is seeking to punish for an alleged offense which is the product of the creative activity of its own officials.”

In Utah the standard for entrapment is set out in the opinion of *State v. Pacheco*, 13 Utah 2d 148, 369 P. 2d 494 (1962). As stated by Justice Crockett:

“For a peace officer to procure a person to commit a crime, which he otherwise would not have committed, for the purpose of apprehending

and prosecuting him is entrapment. This is so discordant to the true function of law enforcement which is the prevention, not the accusation, of crime; and so repugnant to fundamental concepts of justice that the conviction of an accused under such circumstances will not be approved. When that issue is present the question is whether the crime is the product of defendant's own intention and desire, or is the product of some incitement or inducement by the peace officer. If the crime was in fact so instigated or induced by what the officer did that the latter's conduct was the generating cause which produced the crime, and without which it would not have been committed, the defendant should not be convicted. On the other hand if defendant's attitude of mind was such that he desired and intended to commit the crime, the mere fact that an officer or someone else afforded him the opportunity to commit it would not constitute entrapment which would be a defense to its commission; and this would not be less true even though an undercover man went along with the defendant in the criminal plan and aided or encouraged him in it."

Respondent contends that neither under the holding of *Sorrells* or *Pacheco* can appellants show that they were entrapped. Their arrest and subsequent conviction was because they desired and intended to commit the crime. The state agents involved in the case only afforded defendants an opportunity to commit the crime.

The defense of entrapment has been held to be a defense as a matter of law in some instances. In the case of *Sherman v. United States*, 356 U. S. 369, 78 S. Ct. 819, 2 L. Ed. 2d 848 (1958), the court held that the evidence

showed entrapment as a matter of law. The defendant there was a narcotics addict who was being medically treated for his addiction. The defendant happened to make the acquaintance of another addict also being treated by the same doctor. The other addict was also a government informer. They requested Sherman to supply him with drugs, a request which Sherman declined. Sherman finally relented after several requests and several appeals to his sympathies by the government informer. Thereafter he supplied the informer with drugs on several occasions. The informer's solicitation not only enticed Sherman into selling drugs but also got him to return to his old drug habit. The Court felt that the informer's actions were so blatantly contrary to public policy and so obviously evil that the Court found entrapment as a matter of law.

The facts in the case at hand do not point to entrapment per se. At the first meeting on November 29, 1969, Kathy Olson inquired as to how much LSD they could get. She was told by Cunningham that he would know on the 3rd of December, 1969, how much he could supply to her and that he had some LSD tablets then but they were promised to someone else (R. 61-62). At the second meeting of the appellants and DeLand and Olson, Cunningham asked if they still wanted a large quantity of LSD. Olson and DeLand replied that they did but at that time they only wanted eight tablets of LSD, with which they were supplied (R. 31-35). The evidence does not show entrapment as a matter of law

as in *Sherman*. The evidence does show a request made by Olson and DeLand that was readily complied with by appellants.

The appellants raised the defense of entrapment at the trial court. Once the defendants bring into issue the defense of entrapment the state's evidence must be sufficient to rebut it. In the Utah case of *State v. Perkins*, 19 Utah 2d 421, 432 P. 2d 50 (1967), the defense attorney brought into issue entrapment. In order to overcome that defense the state showed evidence of prior contacts between the state's agent and the defendant. The evidence showed prior solicitations and drug sales by the defendant. This evidence was used in order to show an intent or a predisposition to commit the criminal act. Such evidence shows that a defendant is not an innocent, law-abiding citizen who was coaxed by government agents to do a criminal act, but was in reality a person who was ready and willing to commit a criminal act. In the case of *State v. Kasai*, 27 Utah 2d 236, 495 P. 2d 1265 (1972), the prosecution again used evidence of prior drug sales to show that the defendant had a prior inclination to commit the crime of selling marijuana.

In the instant case there is no evidence of prior drug sales, prior convictions for drug sales, or prior contacts with state agents. The exact issue that is present here has not been raised in the courts of Utah. The issue is simply one of showing intent or predisposition to commit a criminal act absent any prior evidence of criminal activity. That issue was also presented in *United States v.*

Rodrigues, 433 F. 2d 760 (1st Cir. 1970). There the defendant was convicted of selling heroin to a government agent. The defendant pled entrapment as a defense to the charge. The court's approach to the problem of entrapment was not the traditional bifurcation of the defense into the sub-issues of inducement and predisposition. They used an analysis developed in an earlier case, *Kadis v. United States*, 373 F. 2d 370 (1st Cir. 1967). With that approach the court examines "ultimate questions of entrapment." The defendant first goes forward with the defense by showing some evidence that it was not his intent or predisposition to commit the crime charged. The government must then prove defendant was not induced to commit the criminal act by its agents. In *Rodrigues*, there was no evidence of prior connection with the narcotics trade to rebut the entrapment defense. The court, however, held that there were other means to rebut this defense. The court states at page 762 of the opinion:

"A jury can find predisposition beyond a reasonable doubt by looking to the totality of circumstances involved in the particular transactions in question. Otherwise, a first offender, disposed to commit the crime for which he is charged, would find sanctuary in the entrapment defense merely because the government would be unable to prove prior nonexistent activities. The entrapment defense does not require such a result."

By examining the totality of conduct of the appellants it is clear that their entrapment defense breaks down. The appellants had other quantities of LSD tab-

lets promised to other buyers. The state agents involved made only two contacts with the appellants. From the testimony given, the appellants were unwary and readily sold the illicit drugs to the agents after only two short encounters. Cunningham and Parker claim they were afraid of the agents and that is why they sold them the LSD (R. 84 and 98). A girl who was at the apartment on December 3, 1969, Sally Neilson, testified that although the agents were strangers they did not make threats or use any threatening language while there (R. 94). If appellants were truly fearful they could have asked the agents to leave or put their requests off until a later date. However, they did not do this, they readily sold the agents the LSD tablets and readily accepted the \$20 as payment (R. 34-35, 84).

Appellants' testimony that they were afraid of the agents is unworthy of belief. There is absolutely no affirmative evidence that the state agents did anything to make appellants fearful.

In conclusion it is respondent's contention that the entrapment defense was rebutted by the state's evidence. Appellants readily sold the LSD tablets to the two state agents. Thus, the test of *Pacheco*, to show an intention or predisposition to commit criminal acts is satisfied. Respondents urge the court to adopt the position of the court in the *Rodrigues* case. By looking at the totality of conduct and the ready compliance with the requests for the illicit drug, it is clear that the appellants were not innocent citizens entrapped by the state, but were crim-

inals engaging in the proscribed act of selling drugs, not only to the two state agents, but others. Appellants cannot hid behind the entrapment defense merely because there is no evidence of prior drug sales. The conviction should be affirmed.

POINT II.

APPELLANTS WERE PROPERLY CONVICTED AND SENTENCED FOR THE CRIME OF SALE OF AN HALLUCINOGENIC DRUG.

Appellants claim that they were convicted and sentenced under one statute, Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-6(1), that made the crime of sale of LSD a felony, while there was a similar statute, Utah Code Ann. §58-17-14.11, that makes the same conduct a misdemeanor. It is true that both of these statutes do exist, or did at the time appellants were convicted; however, the two statutes have totally different applications. Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-14.11 is a statute that applies to the regulations of pharmacists and the pharmacy profession. Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-6(1) is a statute designed to curb the abuse and distribution of dangerous drugs and narcotics. The real question that is raised by appellants' argument is showing the application and construction of the two statutes involved. It is respondent's contention that by a logical reading of the statutes involved it is readily apparent that appellants were properly convicted and sentenced for violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-6(1).

Appellants were charged with a violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-6(1). That statute states:

“It shall be unlawful for any person to manufacture, compound, process, possess, have under his control, sell, prescribe, administer, dispense, use or compound any depressant, stimulant, or hallucinogenic, or other drug, as defined herein, except this prohibition shall not apply to the following persons whose activities in connection with any such drug are as specified in this subsection. . . .”

The act then exempts manufacturers operating in conformance with state laws, pharmacies, physicians, laboratories, wholesale druggists, hospitals, and generally all those people who are licensed by the state and who are engaged in the legitimate sale, manufacture, prescribing and use of drugs. The penalty for violation of the above-quoted statute is found in Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-4(3), which states:

“Every person who transports, imports into this state, sell, furnish, administer, or give away, or attempts to import into this state or transport any ‘depressant, stimulant or hallucinogenic drug,’ shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison from five years to life and shall not be eligible for release upon completion of sentence or on parole or on any other basis until he has served not less than three years.”

The statute regulating the profession of pharmacy and of pharmacists, Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-14.11 reads as follows:

“Any proprietor of a pharmacy or other person who shall sell, dispose of, or permit the sale or other disposition of any drug intended for use by man which under the laws of this state or the laws of the United States, or lawful regulations thereunder, has been designated habit forming, unsafe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed to administer such drugs, or otherwise limited to use under professional supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to prescribe, unless it is dispensed upon a prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer the same, shall be guilty of an offense.”

Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-26 provides that for violation of the above-quoted statute a person shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.

Appellants cite two cases attempting to uphold their argument that the lesser penalty should apply. The first case cited is *State v. Shondel*, 22 Utah 2d 343, 453 P. 2d 146 (1969). There the defendant was charged and convicted of possession of LSD, a misdemeanor under Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-4(1), but a felony under Utah Code Ann. § 58-13a-44. The court held that since the prohibited conduct under both statutes was the same the lesser penalty provided in Section 58-33-4(1) would apply. *Shondel* can be distinguished from the instant case in that in *Shondel*, two different laws violating illicit drug sales did apply. Here one statute deals with illicit drug sales and another deals with unlawful sales over the counter at pharmacies or by pharmacists.

Appellant cites *State v. Fair*, 23 Utah 2d 34, 456 P. 2d 168 (1969), for the proposition that when two different statutes apply the one providing the lesser penalty should govern. In *Fair*, the defendant was charged with uttering a forged prescription, a felony under Utah Code Ann. § 58-13a-39 but only a misdemeanor under Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-14.13. The court rightly held that the misdemeanor penalty should apply. Uttering a forged prescription should properly be considered under a statute relating to regulation of pharmacies and pharmacists. *Fair* can be distinguished from the instant case in that in *Fair* there was a true conflict between statutes prescribing differing penalties for the same conduct. In the instant case the two statutes relate to differing conduct. Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-14.11 deals with dispensing of drugs or medicines by pharmacists or those in the pharmacy business. Utah Code Ann. § 58-33-6(1) deals with the illegal dispensing of dangerous drugs by those other than licensed pharmacists or qualified medical people.

The real problem here, as stated previously, is interpreting and applying the two statutes in question in a consistent logical manner. A guide to statutory interpretation is provided for us in the case of *Johnson v. State Tax Commission*, 17 Utah 2d 337, 411 P. 2d 831 (1966). In that case the issue was the interpretation and implication of state tax laws. The court states:

“The fundamental consideration which transcends all others in regard to the interpretation and application of a statute is: What was the intent of the legislature? All other rules of statu-

tory construction are subordinate to it and are helpful only insofar as they assist in attaining that objective. In determining that intent the statute should be considered in the light of the purpose it was designed to serve and so applied as to carry out that purpose if that can be done consistent with its language."

The same proposition, that is carrying out the intent of the legislature, is cited in *Young v. Barney*, 20 Utah 2d 108, 433 P. 2d 846 (1967), and in *State v. Salt Lake City Public Board of Education*, 13 Utah 2d 56, 368 P. 2d 468 (1962).

Appellants' application of Utah Code Ann. § 58-17-14.11 is without merit. The statute applies only to "any proprietor of a pharmacy or other person." The well established rule of statutory construction, *ejusdem generis*, requires that where general words or terms follow specific ones, the general must be understood as applying to things of the same kind as specified. *W. S. Hatch Co. v. Public Service Commission*, 3 Utah 2d 7, 277 P. 2d 809 (1954). Therefore, an "other person" must be interpreted as someone associated with a pharmacy as an agent, employee, owner, etc. acting in connection with the pharmacy. Furthermore, the general common-sense rule of statutory construction stated in *Johnson v. State Tax Commission, supra*, supports this rule. In applying that rule it is clear that § 58-17-14.11 was designed to deal only with pharmacies and pharmacists. Section 58-33-6 exempts pharmacists and others licensed to prescribe drugs from its provisions. Section 58-17-14.11 applies only to

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